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red24 is a provider of a range of security risk 
management services, offering preventative and 
reactive advice to help individuals and organisations  
to avoid and manage security risks to themselves, their 
families and their organisations. The products are 
distributed through leading international financial  
service companies.

red24 london office
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HIGHlIGHts

red24 plc (“red 24” or the “Group”) is pleased to announce its results for the year ended 31 March 2010.

• Revenue increased by 29% to £4,287,744 (2009: £3,320,725)

• profit Before tax up 17% to £628,294 (2009: £536,737)

• Basic eps of 1.43p (2009: 0.95p)
 
• Maiden dividend payment of 0.15p per share paid in January

• net cash increased to £937,885 (2009: £327,836)

• two main distribution deals renewed for a further three years

•  three contracts with leading us underwriters commenced in January 2010 to provide additional special 
risk services

 

Simon Richards, Chairman, commented:

“this has been an excellent year for the Group and one that saw us build on the sound platform created in 
the previous year. the strength of our performance was across the board, with revenues, profits and cash 
generation all showing marked improvements on the prior year and providing us with the confidence to pay 
our first dividend.

“During the course of the year we renewed our two key distribution deals with travelGuard and HsBc for a 
further three years which reaffirms the benefit these customers see in our products and provides 
opportunities to further grow the business. since then we have added further resources to meet the 
demand for additional special risk services and it is pleasing to note that we have already had notable 
successes in this field. With this substantial progress in our business, both old and new, we continue to 
view the future with confidence.”
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cHAIRMAn’s stAteMent

Introduction
I am pleased to present our annual report for 
the year ended 31 March 2010.

Financial Overview
I am pleased to report that, since the half 
yearly report, we have continued with the 
excellent progress the business has made in 
the past two years. compared with the last 
financial year revenue has increased by 29% 
to £4,287,744 from £3,320,725 and a profit 
before tax of £628,294 is an increase of 17% 
on the prior year’s profit of £536,737. this 
improvement is entirely due to the growth  
in the red24 business which, as discussed 
further below, is attributable partly to  
one-off responses and partly due to the 
significant expansion of our services to 
insurance providers. 

counter-intuitively, the improved profitability 
has led to a significant reduction in the tax 
charge as there is a greater chance that at 
least some of the tax losses incurred in earlier 
years can be utilised. thus, there is little 
difference this year between before and after 
tax profits, all of which have been retained 
bar the modest but significant maiden 
dividend of 0.15p per share paid in January 
2010. the Board intend to pursue a 
progressive dividend policy. clearly the exact 
dividend will be determined by the events of 
2010 but the Board intend to pursue a similar 
timetable to last year, that is to declare the 
amount of the dividend at the time of release 
of the half yearly statements that will be 
payable to shareholders mid-January.

the retained profits have improved the 
balance sheet as has the decision by warrant 
holders to exercise their warrants.  
the only unexercised warrants that remain 
are held by sidebell limited and were not 
exercised in compliance with their 
undertaking not to exercise if to do so would 
have triggered a bid obligation and involved 
the company in the costs associated with 
such a bid. During the year we repaid the 
remaining loan notes and next year will 
benefit from the corresponding reduction in 
finance costs.

As a result, the net assets per share have 
more than doubled to 2.65p, much of which 
is represented by cash, which has increased 
by 55%. the balance sheet also shows a 
significant rise in debtors, which reflects both 
the increase in activity and also the changing 
nature of some of the revenue streams, 
where payment follows performance rather 
than being on a monthly retainer. the 
increased level of response work does 
require the retention of significant cash 
reserves to meet the working capital 
demands of a crisis, but there is still sufficient 
cash for the Board to begin to consider the 
acquisition of additional capabilities to 
expand the business further.

red24
red24 is a global security service providing 
preventative and reactive advice to help 
individuals and businesses avoid and manage 
personal risks to themselves, their staff and 
their families. 

Revenues for the red24 business segment 
grew by 49%. As I mentioned at the time of 
the half year report, the strength of the rand 
against both sterling and the dollar has 
tended to increase the costs of our crisis 
Risk Management centre (cRM) in cape 
town where we have little local revenue. At 
the half year the effect was a 15% rise in 
costs and this trend continued in the second 
half, meaning the exchange rate pushed 
costs up by 17.6% for the year as a whole.

However, the growth in business has enabled 
us to absorb these cost increases. of the 
increase in revenue some 10% came about 
from an increase in response work for those 
clients who do not buy the product on an 
inclusive basis. such revenues are clearly 
unpredictable and only arise where there is  
a security crisis or a natural disaster that 
affects members.

the other major source of increasing revenue 
comes from the opportunities to provide 
additional services to special risk insurance 
providers. I alluded to this in the half year 
report as market changes have led to new 

We have continued with the excellent progress the business 
has made in the past two years.

Revenue 
increased by 29%

Profit before tax 
increased by 17% 

Net cash 
increased by 
186%
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cHAIRMAn’s stAteMent

market entrants who require response 
providers. since then we have succeeded in 
becoming the retained provider for certain 
special risks with three leading us 
underwriters. these contracts only took 
effect at the beginning of January and are 
generally for three years. 

the expansion of the business has required a 
change in premises and in november 2009 
we moved in to the london underwriting 
centre in the city of london where we are 
very close to our key insurance markets. the 
increased proportion of our sales to north 
America has led to our incorporating a us 
subsidiary, red24 Inc and we anticipate that 
this company will become a fully functioning 
subsidiary, with local employees, during the 
course of the coming year.

Training
the Arc training International Academy for 
security Management is one of the uK’s 
leading providers of security management 
training courses and one of the best-known 
international security management training 
companies in the world. the courses offer a 
range of qualifications and education for 
full-time security professionals and for 
managers for whom security is one of their 
key responsibilities. each year a published 
programme of courses, open to all, is run in 
the uK and, increasingly, overseas where 
they may be held as Arc courses or in 
conjunction with local training partners.

the training segment has seen a 23% fall in 
revenues in the year, but the impact on profit 
has been much less marked as more work 
has been conducted overseas where hotel 
costs, which are the largest single cost in 
running a course, are significantly lower. We 
are actively seeking to recruit more trainers, 
either in the uK or south Africa to enable us 
to meet demand and until the right personnel 
are in place progress in this business 
segment may be limited.

Outlook
the greatly improved financial performance of 
the business has put the group in a position 
to take advantage of new opportunities that 
may arise. this has been put into good effect 
in the last six months and other opportunities 
are under consideration. Amongst the 
considerations are the margins achievable, 
the Board being unanimous in agreeing that 
we do not wish to enter low margin security 
businesses, which would include labour 
intensive activities and the distribution  
of manufactured products. We have worked 
hard to establish a reputation for good quality 
work for well established clients and see 
future growth both with our existing services 
and by adding other services that are likely to 
be of assistance to our customers.

clearly, there are risks to any business and 
these are considered in the Directors’ Report. 
nonetheless, the Board feel encouraged by 
the progress of the last year and are 
confident of further progress to come. We 
would hope that in time the share price will 
reflect the improved outlook for earnings and 
also the quality of those earnings when 
compared to others in the sector.

Staff
our staff are absolutely crucial to the quality 
of service provided and to creating a working 
environment where we can attract good 
quality people who want to come and work 
for us. the Board are most grateful to all the 
staff for their hard work and are gratified that 
so many of them are choosing to build their 
careers with the group. this was exemplified 
by the success of the last offer under the staff 
share loan scheme where more than a 
quarter of the staff took up the opportunity 
offered to buy shares in the company.

Simon Richards
chairman 
10 June 2010 

Board encouraged 
by solid progress 
of the business 
and have declared 
a maiden dividend
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Year ended 31 March 2010

DIRectoRs’ RepoRt

the directors present their report and the audited financial 
statements of the company and of the group for the year 
ended 31 March 2010. 

Principal activities, business review,  
future developments, principal risks and key 
performance indicators
red24 plc is incorporated in scotland and domiciled in 
england. Its shares are listed on the AIM Market (“AIM”) of 
the london stock exchange. the company acts as a 
holding company. the principal activities of its wholly-owned 
trading subsidiaries are the provision of security risk 
management and training services. these activities are 
expected to continue for the foreseeable future.

A fair review of the business, and its future prospects, is 
contained in the chairman’s statement on pages 2 and 3. 
the Board considers the key performance indicators to be 
turnover, gross profit, profit before tax and available cash 
and the Board consider that the progress made in the 
second half of the year was satisfactory. the Board intend to 
adopt non-financial key performance indicators in the 
coming year.

the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group have 
changed markedly during the year. Although the timing of 
revenues can still be of concern, revenues have grown to a 
degree that monthly revenues almost always exceed 
monthly costs and both the trading divisions, and the group 
as a whole, are now trading profitably. profitability has led to 
an improved cash flow and a much stronger balance sheet, 
thereby enabling the group to maintain reserves against the 
possibility of periods of reduced working capital. Internally 
the dependence on one or two key accounts for a significant 
proportion of our revenue remains a key risk. the Board are 
endeavouring to mitigate this risk by broadening the 
customer base. externally the economic environment 
remains a challenging one as many governments struggle 
with debt constraints. this has implications for the relative 
value of currencies and not least sterling, which is our 
reporting currency. the past year has seen significant 
growth in our dollar revenues and costs, and we also have a 
significant rand cost base in south Africa. However, the 

impact of currency movements on our earnings cannot be 
reliably forecast and remain an area of uncertainty. other 
normal business risks include dependence on the continued 
availability of key personnel to ensure that our clients receive 
the level of service they are entitled to expect, and the ability 
of the group to continue to provide that level of service. the 
reputation of the group is critical to its continued success 
and it works hard to develop and protect its reputation by 
ensuring that it only associates itself with activities that are 
appropriate for a company in its sector.

Results for the year
the financial result for the year ended 31 March 2010 and 
the comparative result for the year ended 31 March 2009 
are set out on page 13. An interim dividend of 0.15p per 
share was paid on 15 January 2010, no final dividend is 
recommended (2009: £nil).

Directors 
s A Richards, J e A Mocatta and M s H Worsley-tonks held 
office throughout the year. 

s A Richards retires by rotation at the forthcoming  
Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offers himself 
for re-election. 

Biographies of Directors
Simon Richards, who is a chartered Accountant, is the 
company’s executive chairman. He also acts as the part 
time finance director as well as being the chairman of 
sidebell limited.

Mal Worsley-Tonks is a former lieutenant colonel in
the British Army, having commanded a regular parachute 
Battalion. He has over ten years’ experience in the  
security industry. He is responsible for the red24 business 
segment worldwide.

John Mocatta, who is a chartered Accountant, is the 
company’s non-executive director. He is a specialist in 
corporate finance and company reorganisation and has 
previously been both an executive and a non-executive 
director of a number of public and private companies.
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Year ended 31 March 2010 

DIRectoRs’ RepoRt

Directors’ interests
the interests of the directors in the company’s share capital, including shares held by companies controlled by the directors, 
were as follows:

31 March 2010

ordinary
shares of 
1p each

ordinary
shares 

options (iii)

ordinary
shares

options (iv)

s A Richards (i) 580,000 50,000 –

J e A Mocatta (ii) 600,000 50,000 –

M s H Worsley-tonks 913,500 175,000 500,000

31 March 2009

ordinary
shares of 
1p each

ordinary
shares 

options (iii)

s A Richards (i) 580,000 50,000

J e A Mocatta (ii) 600,000 50,000

M s H Worsley-tonks 913,500 175,000

(i)  s A Richards is also interested in the shares of sidebell limited, which held 12,659,250 ordinary shares of 1p each at 31 March 2010 
(1 April 2009: 11,909,250 ordinary shares of 1p each). At 31 March 2009 sidebell limited held £190,000 of the 12% loan notes 2010 all  
of which were repaid during the year.

  At 31 March 2010 sidebell limited also held warrants, associated with the loan notes, to subscribe for 1,150,000 (31 March 2009: 1,900,000) 
ordinary shares of 1p each at a subscription price of 5p per share at any time up to 30 september 2010. 750,000 warrants were exercised during 
the year.

  s A Richards is also interested in the shares of financial & General securities limited, which held 500,000 new ordinary shares of 1p each at  
31 March 2010 (1 April 2009: 500,000).

(ii) J e A Mocatta is also interested in 20,000 (1 April 2009: 20,000) ordinary shares held in trust for his grandchildren.
 
(iii)  on 16 April 2004 options over ordinary shares of 1p each at a price of 18.75p per share were granted to directors and certain employees. these 

options are exercisable between 16 April 2006 and 15 April 2014.

(iv)  on 2 March 2010 options over ordinary shares of 1p each at a price of 8p per share were granted to M s H Worsley-tonks. these options are 

exercisable between 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2016.
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Year ended 31 March 2010   continued

DIRectoRs’ RepoRt

Substantial shareholdings
the following shareholders had advised the company of 
holding an interest of 3 per cent or more in the issued 
ordinary share capital of the company at 12 May 2010:
 

number of
ordinary shares

of 1p each

percentage of
issued ordinary

share capital

sidebell limited 12,659,250 26.80

J M Briggs and eMIs 8,128,568 17.21

R G c Whiting and 
Regent trust company 3,744,922 7.93

tD Waterhouse 
nominees europe 1,841,804 3.90

pershing nominees 
limited 1,822,983 3.86

Barclayshare nominees 1,481,524 3.14

Directors’ and officers liability insurance
During the year the company has maintained insurance to 
indemnify the directors against potential claims arising from 
the performance of their duties.

Related parties
the group considers that the Directors, their spouses and 
children and other companies or businesses of which the 
Directors, their spouses or children are either directors or 
principals, or both, are related parties. full details of 
transactions with related parties are disclosed in note 24 to 
these accounts. the interests of related parties in the shares 
and loan notes issued by the company are set out above.

Equal opportunities
the group endorses and supports the principles of equal 
employment opportunities. It is the policy of the group  
to provide equal employment opportunities to all qualified 
individuals, which ensures that all employment  
decisions are made, subject to legal obligations, on 
a non-discriminatory basis.

Disabled employees
Applications for employment by disabled persons are always 
fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the 
applicant concerned. In the event of members of staff 
becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that the 

training, career development and promotion opportunities of 
disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical with 
those of other employees.

Product development
the group invests in its products and services on a 
continuous basis to ensure that its offerings remain at the 
forefront of those on offer in the market place.

Suppliers’ payment terms
It is the policy of the group to agree terms of payment with 
its suppliers when trading relationships are established, to 
ensure that the terms of payment are clear and to abide by 
the agreed terms, provided the suppliers meet their 
obligations. payable days at 31 March 2010 were 44  
(2009: 38) for the group and 39 (2009: 46) for the company.

Financial instruments
Details of the financial instruments of the company and its 
subsidiary undertakings are contained in note 25.

Employee participation
the group values the involvement of its employees and 
keeps them informed of matters affecting them as 
employees and on the various factors affecting the 
performance of the group. 

Statement as to disclosure of information to auditor
each of the directors confirms that, so far as he is aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s 
auditor is unaware, and that he has taken all steps that he 
ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the company’s auditor is aware of that information. 

Auditor
A resolution proposing that Baker tilly uK Audit llp, 
chartered Accountants, be appointed as auditor of the 
company will be put to the members at the Annual General 
Meeting. Baker tilly uK Audit llp have indicated its 
willingness to continue in office.

By order of the Board

J E A Mocatta
secretary
10 June 2010 
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stAteMent of DIRectoRs’ ResponsIBIlItIes

the directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ 
Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.
 
company law requires the directors to prepare group and 
company financial statements for each financial year. the 
directors are required by the AIM Rules of the london stock 
exchange to prepare group financial statements in 
accordance with International financial Reporting standards 
(“IfRs”) as adopted by the european union (“eu”) and have 
elected under company law to prepare the company 
financial statements in accordance with IfRs as adopted by 
the eu.
 
the financial statements are required by law and IfRs 
adopted by the eu to present fairly the financial position of 
the group and the company and the financial performance 
of the group and the company. the companies Act 2006 
provides in relation to such financial statements that 
references in the relevant part of that Act to financial 
statements giving a true and fair view are references to their 
achieving a fair presentation.

under company law the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and the 
company and of the profit or loss of the group and the 
company for that period. 
 
In preparing the group and company financial statements, 
the directors are required to:

a.  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

b.  make judgements and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

c.  state whether they have been prepared in accordance 
with IfRss adopted by the eu;

d.  prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group 
and the company will continue in business.

the directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the group’s and the company’s transactions and disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the group and the company and enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements comply with the companies Act 
2006. they are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the group and the company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.

the directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the red24 plc website.

legislation in the united Kingdom governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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coRpoRAte GoveRnAnce stAteMent

As a company listed on the AIM Market of the london stock 
exchange, the Directors’ policy is, as far as is possible in 
relation to the group’s size, to manage the affairs of the 
group in accordance with the principles of Good 
Governance and code of Best practice issued by the 
financial Reporting council (“the combined code”). 

Application of the principles of good governance
the names of the directors and their respective 
responsibilities are shown on page 5. the Board presently 
consists of two executive and one non-executive director. 
the full Board meets regularly and receives appropriate 
information from management in advance of its meetings. 
certain functions are delegated to Board committees. 

the Remuneration committee is chaired by the non-
executive director and consists of that director and the 
chairman. Its key role is to make recommendations to the 
Board, within agreed terms of reference, on the company’s 
framework of executive remuneration and its cost and to 
determine on behalf of the Board specific remuneration 
packages for the executive Directors.

the Audit committee consists of the chairman and the 
non-executive director, both of whom are chartered 
Accountants. the committee, which is chaired by the 
non-executive director, meets with the independent auditor 
to consider the group’s financial reporting in advance of 
its publication.

the Board considers that its structure is appropriate to its 
present stage of development and that the non-executive 
director is independent of the executives in both character 
and judgement. 

Internal control
the Board has overall responsibility for ensuring that the 
group maintains a system of internal control to provide it with 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of information 
used within the business and for publication and that assets 
are safeguarded. there are inherent limitations in any system 
of internal control and, accordingly, even the most effective 
system can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, 
assurance with respect to the preparation of financial 
information and the safeguarding of assets.

the key features of the internal control system that operated 
during the year may be summarised as follows:

•  the Board is responsible for overall strategy and for 
approving budgets, forecasts and plans;

•  clear lines of authority, responsibility and financial 
accountability within each business unit, ensuring  
an appropriate organisational structure for  
planning, executing, controlling and monitoring 
its business operations;

•  consideration and review by the Board of monthly 
management accounts which compare actual results 
with budgets and prior years’ results;

•  regular reporting of legal and accounting developments 
to the Board; and

•  comprehensive accounting policies and regular reviews 
of compliance with those policies.

the Audit committee reviews the operation and 
effectiveness of this framework on a regular basis and, on 
behalf of the Board, has reviewed the half yearly report and 
the annual financial statements along with the nature and 
scope of the external audit. 

the directors consider that there have been no weaknesses 
in internal financial control that have resulted in any material 
losses, contingencies or uncertainties requiring disclosure in 
the group’s financial statements.

Relations with shareholders
the chairman makes himself available to major shareholders 
on request and periodically attends meetings with and 
presentations to shareholders. the Annual General Meeting 
is normally attended by all directors and shareholders are 
invited to ask questions during the meeting and to meet with 
directors after the formal proceedings have ended.

Going concern
Having made enquiries, the directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the company and the group as a whole will 
have adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. for this reason they continue to 
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts. 
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coRpoRAte GoveRnAnce stAteMent

Auditor independence
the Audit committee undertakes a formal assessment of 
the external auditor’s independence each year which 
includes:

•  a review of non-audit services provided to the group and 
related fees;

•  receipt from the auditor of a written report detailing 
relationships with the company and any other parties 
that could affect independence or the perception  
of independence;

•  a review of the auditor’s own procedures for ensuring 
independence of the audit firm and partners and staff 
involved in the audit, including the regular rotation of the 
audit partner; and

•  obtaining written confirmation from the auditor that, in 
their professional judgement, they are independent.

An analysis of the fees payable to the external audit firm in 
respect of both audit and non-audit services during the year 
is set out in note 4 to the financial statements.

on behalf of the board

J E A Mocatta
chairman
Audit committee
10 June 2010
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Year ended 31 March 2010

ReMuneRAtIon RepoRt

the Remuneration committee comprises J e A Mocatta, as 
chairman, and s A Richards.

Policy on remuneration of Executive Directors
the purpose of the Remuneration committee is to consider 
all aspects of executive directors’ remuneration and 
determine the specific remuneration packages of each of the 
executive directors and, as appropriate, other senior 
executives, ensuring that the remuneration packages are 
competitive within the service industry and reflect both 
group and personal performance.

the current remuneration packages of the executive 
directors consist of basic salary, share options and a 
discretionary bonus.

M s H Worsley-tonks has a letter of appointment dated 
1 April 2008, which is capable of termination by twelve 
months notice by either party. 

s A Richards has a letter of appointment dated  
23 september 2004, which is capable of termination by 
twelve months’ notice by either party. 

Non-executive Director
John Mocatta & co has agreed to provide the services of  
J e A Mocatta, as a non-executive director, under a letter of 
appointment dated 23 september 2004. the remuneration 
of the non-executive Director is set by the Board as a whole 
and the appointment is capable of termination by the giving 
of twelve months notice by either party. 

Directors’ remuneration
the emoluments of the individual directors, which comprise salaries or fees and bonus were as follows:

2010

salary or fees
£

share based
payment

£
Bonus

£
total

£

s A Richards 70,000 – 7,000 77,000

J e A Mocatta 33,000 – 3,300 36,300

M s H Worsley-tonks 90,000 4,950 18,000 112,950

193,000 4,950 28,300 226,250

2009

salary or fees
£

share based
payment

£
Bonus

£
total

£

s A Richards 60,000 – 6,000 66,000

J e A Mocatta 28,500 – – 28,500

M s H Worsley-tonks 84,000 – 16,800 100,800

172,500 – 22,800 195,300

none of the directors received any benefits in kind during the year or during the previous year, nor were any pension 
contributions made on behalf of any director in either year.
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ReMuneRAtIon RepoRt
Year ended 31 March 2010

Directors’ interests in shares and options
the interests of the directors holding office at 31 March 2010 
in the company’s share capital, including share options and 
also including shares held by companies controlled by the 
directors, are shown in the directors’ report on page 5.

the directors continue to believe that the success of the 
group will depend to a high degree on the future 
performance of the management team. As a result the 
Board have encouraged managers and staff to take 
advantage of the group’s share loan scheme and actually 
purchase shares. the Board were highly gratified that the 
scheme was used by seventeen members of staff, who 
made commitments of £35,100 during the year.

Directors are not entitled to utilise the share loan scheme 
and so the Board have awarded M s H Worsley–tonks share 
options to subscribe to 500,000 ordinary shares at a price of 
8p per share at any anytime between 31 March 2013 and 31 
March 2016. this reflects his contribution both to the 
continued profitability of the company and to the 
development of new revenue streams. 

J E A Mocatta
chairman 
Remuneration committee
10 June 2010
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InDepenDent AuDItoR’s RepoRt to tHe MeMBeRs  
of ReD24 plc
Year ended 31 March 2010

We have audited the group and parent company financial 
statements on pages 13 to 46. the financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the 
group financial statements is applicable law and International 
financial Reporting standards (“IfRss”) as adopted by the 
european union. 

this report is made solely to the company’s members, as a 
body, in accordance with chapter 3 of part 16 of the 
companies Act 2006. our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. to the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As more fully explained in the statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities on page 7, the directors are responsible for 
preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. our responsibility 
is to audit the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International standards on Auditing  
(uK and Ireland). these standards require us to comply with 
the Auditing practices Board’s (“ApB’s”) ethical standards 
for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial  
statements is provided on the ApB’s website at  
www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/uKnp.

Opinion
In our opinion:

−  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs 
as at 31 March 2010 and of the group’s profit for the year 
then ended; 

−  the group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IfRss as adopted by the 
european union;

−  the parent company financial statements have been 
properly prepared in accordance with united Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting practice; and

−  the financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the companies  
Act 2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies 
Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report 
for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
where the companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you 
if, in our opinion:

–  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received by branches not visited by us: or

–  the parent company financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records: or

–  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or

–  we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit. 

Euan Banks (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of BAKeR tIllY uK AuDIt llp
chartered Accountants and statutory Auditor
2 Bloomsbury street
london Wc1B 3st

10 June 2010
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for the year ended 31 March 2010

consolIDAteD IncoMe stAteMent

for the year ended 31 March 2010

consolIDAteD stAteMent of coMpReHensIVe IncoMe

notes
2010

£
2009

£

Revenue  3 4,287,744 3,320,725

cost of sales (926,148) (727,124)

Gross profit 3,361,596 2,593,601

Administrative expenses (2,704,818) (2,009,876)

Operating profit 4 656,778 583,725

Investment income 5 3,622 7,141

finance costs 6 (32,106) (54,129)

Profit before tax 3 628,294 536,737

tax credit/(charge) 10 9,075 (121,088)

Profit for the year attributable to owners  
of the parent company 21 637,369 415,649

Basic profit per share (pence) 11 1.43p 0.95p

Diluted profit per share (pence) 11 1.40p 0.95p

the results above arose from continuing operations.

notes
Group 

2010
Group 
2009

company 
2010

company 
2009

profit for the year 637,369 415,649 283,667 361,764

other comprehensive income for 
the year net of tax

currency translation differences 21 5,536 (34,562) – –

total comprehensive income for 
the year net of tax attributable to 
owners of the parent 642,905 381,087 283,667 361,764

Items in the statement above are disclosed net of tax. the income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive 
income is disclosed in note 10.

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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for the year ended 31 March 2010

consolIDAteD stAteMent of cHAnGes In eQuItY

Attributable to owners of  
the parent

share
capital

£

share 
premium

£

other 
reserves

£

translation
reserve

£

Revenue
reserve

£
total

£

Balance at 1 April 2008 3,356,108 748,303 47,240 96,680 (4,109,670) 138,661

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – (34,562) 415,649 381,087

Transactions with owners

Issue of shares 10,700 11,400 – – – 22,100

cancellation of shares (2,922,397) (748,303) – – 3,670,700 –

costs of share cancellation – (11,400) – – – (11,400)

share based payments – – (1,670) – – (1,670)

Total transactions with owners (2,911,697) (748,303) (1,670) – 3,670,700 9,030

Balance at 31 March 2009 444,411 – 45,570 62,118 (23,321) 528,778

Total comprehensive income 
for the year – – – 5,536 637,369 642,905

Transactions with owners

Issue of shares 28,000 114,600 – – – 142,600

share based payments – – 4,950 – – 4,950

transfer on exercise of warrants – – (6,140) – 6,140 –

Dividends paid – – – – (66,662) (66,662)

Total transactions with owners 28,000 114,600 (1,190) – (60,522) 80,888

Balance at 31 March 2010 472,411 114,600 44,380 67,654 553,526 1,252,571
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for the year ended 31 March 2010

coMpAnY stAteMent of cHAnGes In eQuItY

Attributable to owners of  
the parent

share
capital 

£
share premium

£

other 
reserves

£

Revenue
reserves

£
total

£

Balance at 1 April 2008 3,356,108 748,303 47,240 (3,891,748) 259,903

Comprehensive income for  
the year – – – 361,764 361,764

Transactions with owners

Issue of shares 10,700 11,400 – – 22,100

cancellation of shares (2,922,397) (748,303) – 3,670,700 –

costs of share cancellation – (11,400) – – (11,400)

share based payments – – (1,670) – (1,670)

Total transactions with owners (2,911,697) (748,303) (1,670) 3,670,700 9,030

Balance at 31 March 2009 444,411 – 45,570 140,716 630,697

Comprehensive income for  
the year – – – 283,667 283,667

Transactions with owners

Issue of shares 28,000 114,600 – – 142,600

share based payments – – 4,950 – 4,950

transfer on exercise of warrants – – (6,140) 6,140 –

Dividends paid – – – (66,662) (66,662)

Total transactions with owners 28,000 114,600 (1,190) (60,522) 80,888

Balance at 31 March 2010 472,411 114,600 44,380 363,861 995,252
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31 March 2010

BAlAnce sHeets

notes
Group 

2010
Group 
2009

company 
2010

company 
2009

Assets

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 12 273,190 278,925 10,910 16,379

Investment in group companies 13 – – 147,877 127,125

property, plant & equipment 14 73,214 61,095 – –

Deferred tax assets 15 163,244 138,144 – –

trade and other receivables 16 36,060 10,780 616,282 628,184

545,708 488,944 775,069 771,688

    

Current assets

trade and other receivables 16 945,913 415,037 173,958 172,433

cash and cash equivalents 17 967,623 626,180 131,017 71,388

1,913,536 1,041,217 304,975 243,821

Total assets 2,459,244 1,530,161  1,080,044  1,015,509

    

Capital and reserves 

called up share capital 20 472,411 444,411 472,411 444,411

share premium account 21 114,600 – 114,600 –

other reserves 21 44,380 45,570 44,380 45,570

translation reserve 21 67,654 62,118 – –

Retained earnings 21 553,526 (23,321) 363,861 140,716

Equity attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 21 1,252,571 528,778 995,252 630,697

    

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 19 10,762 28,121 – –

    

Current liabilities

trade and other payables 18 1,176,935 703,039 84,792 134,812

Borrowings 19 18,976 270,223 – 250,000

1,195,911 973,262 84,792 384,812

Total equity and liabilities 2,459,244 1,530,161 1,080,044 1,015,509

the financial statements on pages 13 to 46 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on  
10 June 2010

signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

s A Richards } Directors
J e A Mocatta

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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for the year ended 31 March 2010 

cAsH floW stAteMents

notes
Group 

2010
Group 
2009

company 
2010

company 
2009

Net cash inflow from operating 
activities 22 548,587 728,075 171,879 200,926

Investing activities

Interest received 3,622 7,141 64 457

Dividend received – – 100,000 50,000

Investment in subsidiary – – (752) –

purchase of intangibles (2,131) (18,749) – (16,379)

purchase of property, plant & 
equipment (37,206) (13,136) – –

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from 
investing activities (35,715) (24,744) 99,312 34,078

Financing activities  

Dividends paid (66,662) – (66,662) –

Interest paid (47,106) (61,629) (37,500) (52,548)

Repayment of finance lease 
obligations (8,598) (3,401) – –

Issue of ordinary share capital 142,600 22,100 142,600 22,100

cost of share cancellation – (11,400) – (11,400)

Repayment of bank loans (10,008) (10,008) – –

Repayment of loan notes (250,000) (125,000) (250,000) (125,000)

Net cash outflow from 
financing activities (239,774) (189,338) (211,562) (166,848)

    

Net increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 22 273,098 513,993 59,629 68,156

cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year 626,180 82,380 71,388 3,232

effect of foreign exchange rates 68,345 29,807 – –

cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the year 967,623 626,180 131,017 71,388

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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31 March 2010

1 Accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
from 1 April 2007, the group and company have adopted International financial Reporting standards (“IfRs”) and the 
International financial Report Interpretations committee (“IfRIc”) interpretations as adopted by the european union (“eu”) in 
the preparation of its consolidated financial statements and those parts of the companies Act 2006 applicable to companies 
reporting under IfRs. the financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis. 

the accounts are prepared on a going concern basis. In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, 
the directors have taken into account relevant available information about the future including profit and cash forecasts for 
the next two financial years and the assumptions on which they are based. 

(b) Basis of consolidation
the consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the company and all of the entities controlled by the 
company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 March each year. control is achieved where the company has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefit from its activities. the acquisition of 
subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method. the cost of an acquisition is measured as the cash paid and the 
fair value of other assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange of 
contracts, plus cost directly attributable to the acquisition.

the results of subsidiaries sold or acquired are included in the consolidated income statement up to, or from, the date 
control passes. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting 
policies used into line with those used by the group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are 
eliminated on consolidation.

the company has not presented its own income statement as permitted by section 408 of the companies Act 2006. the 
profit for the year was £283,667 (2009: £361,764).

(c) Revenue recognition
Revenue represents the fair value of the consideration received or receivable in respect of services provided in the normal 
course of business, net of discounts, value added tax and other sales related taxes. sales of services are recognised when 
the services have been provided, services invoiced in advance are treated as deferred income and income is accrued where 
services have been provided but not yet invoiced.

 Interest income is accrued on a time-apportioned basis.

(d) Cost of sales, gross profit and operating profit
cost of sales represent the fair value of costs directly incurred in the supply of goods sold and services provided. costs are 
recognised at the time when the goods have been supplied or the services have been provided. costs relating to services 
still to be provided are carried forward in other receivables to the extent it is considered probable they will be recovered.

 Gross profit is defined as revenue recognised less cost of sales.

 operating profit is arrived at after deducting all administrative expenses from gross profit, including restructuring and 
impairment costs, but before investment income and finance costs.

 (e) Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. Interest costs are 
accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding at the effective interest rate applicable.

(f) Taxation
the tax credit or expense represents the sum of the current tax expense and deferred tax.

the tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the year. taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the 
income statements because it excludes items of income and expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it 
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. the group’s liability for current tax is calculated using rates that 
have been enacted or subsequently enacted by the balance sheet date.
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31 March 2010

1 Accounting policies continued
(f) Taxation continued
Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences are 
expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet 
date. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis. Deferred income tax is charged or credited in the income 
statement, except where it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred income tax is 
also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary timing differences arising on investments in subsidiary companies, except where the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the group and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

(g) Intangible assets
Goodwill, being the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of net assets, including any intangible assets 
identified, acquired, is capitalised. Goodwill is not amortised but is tested at least annually for impairment and carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment provisions. 
 
Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. If the recoverable amount of the cash 
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, then any goodwill is considered to be impaired. Impairment 
losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.

the recoverable amounts of the cash generating units are determined from value in use calculations. the group prepares 
cash flow forecasts from the most recent financial budgets approved by management. the cash flows are then discounted 
at an appropriate interest rate to determine value in use. 

Intellectual properties, including computer software licences, are capitalised at cost and are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful economic lives of between one and three years. 

(h) Property, plant & equipment and depreciation
property, plant and equipment is valued at cost less accumulated depreciation and less provisions for impairment. 
Depreciation is provided at the following annual rates in order to write off each asset, on a straight-line basis, over its 
estimated useful life:

fixtures, fittings and equipment 16.67% to 50% per annum
Motor vehicles 20% per annum
leasehold premises  the shorter of the lease term and the useful economic life of the asset
 
the depreciation charge is time apportioned in the years of acquisition and disposal of assets.

(i) Product development
product development is written off to the income statement as incurred unless the directors are satisfied as to the technical, 
commercial and financial viability of individual projects. In this situation, the expenditure is deferred and amortised over the 
period during which the company is expected to benefit.

(j) Foreign currency translation
the individual financial statements of each group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which it operates (its functional currency). for the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the 
results and financial position of each group company are expressed in sterling, which is the functional currency of the 
company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions expressed in currencies other than the entity’s 
functional currency (foreign currencies) are at rates of exchange approximating to those ruling at the date of the transaction. 
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31 March 2010   continued

1 Accounting policies continued
(j) Foreign currency translation continued
At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
rates ruling at the balance sheet date. non monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not retranslated. 

exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are included 
in the profit or loss before income tax for the period.

In presenting the consolidated financial statements the assets and liabilities of the overseas subsidiary are translated at the 
rate ruling at the balance sheet date. the results of the overseas subsidiary have been translated at the average exchange 
rate ruling during the year. Differences arising on retranslation are added to or deducted from the group’s translation reserve. 

(k) Financial assets
trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as “loans and receivables”. these receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently 
measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any provision for impairment. 

financial assets are assessed for indications of impairment at each balance sheet date. financial assets are impaired where 
there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial 
asset the estimated future cash flows of the asset have been impacted. for trade and other receivables the carrying amount 
is reduced by an allowance reflecting the impairment. When a trade receivable is uncollectible it is written off against the 
allowance, subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. changes in 
the carrying amount of the allowance are reflected in the income statement. 

cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and on demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(l) Financial liabilities and equity
financial liabilities and equity are classified according to the substance of the contracted arrangements entered into. An 
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all its liabilities. 
equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

the component parts of compound instruments are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance with 
the substance of the transaction. At the date of issue the fair value of the liability is estimated using the prevailing market 
interest rate for a similar non-convertible instrument. this amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until 
extinguished on conversion or upon the instrument reaching maturity. the equity component initially brought to account is 
determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. 
this is recognised in equity through other reserves and is not subsequently re-measured. 

other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts together with obligations under finance leases 
are classified as “Borrowings”. trade payables and other payables and borrowings for the purposes of IAs 39 are classified 
as “other financial liabilities”.

(m) Net debt
net debt is defined as the excess of Borrowings over cash and cash equivalents. 

(n) Investments
non-current investments representing investments in subsidiary undertakings are valued at cost less any provision for 
impairment in the value of the investment. 
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31 March 2010

1 Accounting policies continued
(o) Share based payments
the group issues equity-settled share based payments to certain employees. equity settled share based payments are 
measured at fair value at the date of grant. the fair value determined at the grant date is expensed on a straight line basis 
over the vesting period, based on the group’s estimate of options that will eventually vest. fair value is measured by use of 
the Black scholes model. the assumptions underlying the number of awards expected to vest are subsequently adjusted to 
reflect conditions prevailing at the balance sheet date. At the vesting date of an award, the cumulative expense is adjusted to 
take account of the awards that actually vest.

the group has issued warrants to subscribers of certain equity issues and these are measured at fair value at the date of 
grant in the same way as employee related share based payments.

(p) Leased assets and obligations
An asset is acquired when substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred and is capitalised as an asset under a finance 
lease with the corresponding liability to the finance company included in trade and other payables. Depreciation on assets held 
under finance leases is provided in accordance with the policy noted in (h) above. finance lease payments are treated as 
consisting of capital and interest elements and the interest is charged to the income statement on a constant rate basis over 
the period of the agreement. finance charges are charged directly to income. All other leases are operating leases.

Rentals receivable or payable under operating leases are credited or charged to the income statement on a straight line 
basis over the lease term.

(q) Adoption of new and revised standards
In the current financial year the group has adopted IAs 1 ‘presentation of financial statements’ which requires the 
presentation of changes in equity as a primary statement separate from the income statement and balance sheets. 

the group has also adopted IfRs 8 ‘operating segments’ in the current period; this standard replaces IAs 14 ‘segment 
Reporting’ and requires segmental information reported to be based on that which management uses internally for 
evaluating performance of operating segments and requires increased disclosure relating to reportable segments. the same 
business segments have been adopted in applying both standards and so there is no impact on the reported results.

the various improvements to IfRs 2008, and the amendment to IfRs 7 ‘Improving disclosures about financial instruments’, 
which were effective for this financial period, have had no material impact on the financial statements of the Group.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards and Interpretations, which have not yet 
been applied in these financial statements, were in issue but not yet effective:

• IAs 24 (Revised 2009) ‘Related party Disclosures’;
• IfRs 9 ’financial Instruments’;
• IfRs 3 ’Business combinations’;
• Improvements to IfRss 2009’.
 
there were no other standards and Interpretations which were in issue but not effective at the date of authorisation of these 
financial statements that the directors anticipate will have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group.

2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
estimates and judgements are evaluated on a continual basis and are based on historical experience together with 
expectations of future events believed to be reasonable at the time. In considering the possible impairment of intangible 
assets and in recognising deferred tax assets, estimates of future revenues are particularly critical. the directors have 
prepared forecasts of revenues and expenses covering the next two financial years to assist in the making of estimates and 
judgements.

In the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 1, the directors have made the 
following judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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31 March 2010   continued

2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty continued
Revenue recognition
Much of the group’s revenue comes from business that relates to the provision of services over a period of time. Invoiced 
revenue may cover more than one accounting period and these revenues are time apportioned to the accounting period to 
which they relate and the obligation for future service is shown in deferred income. even after recognition as revenue on a 
time apportioned basis, there may be uncertainty as to the costs relating to these revenues for some time afterwards and 
there may remain an obligation for future service. An estimate of this obligation has been made by the directors, using their 
experience of similar contracts, and deducted from recognised revenue. 

3 Revenue and segment analysis
for management purposes the group is currently organised into two divisions – red24 and training. these divisions are the 
basis on which the group reports its management information to the group board. the red24 segment provides preventative 
and reactive security advice to customers across the globe, whilst the training segment provides training in security 
management both in the uK and overseas.

the following tables provide details of revenue, profit, assets and liabilities and capital expenditure by business segment:

Business segment      
2010 2009

red 24
£

training
£

consolidated
£

red 24
£

training
£

consolidated
£

Revenue 3,586,348 701,396 4,287,744 2,412,052 908,673 3,320,725

segment result 788,720 28,473 817,193 806,670 41,811 848,481

unallocated head office costs (160,415) (264,756)

operating profit 656,778 583,725

Investment income 3,622 7,141

finance expense (32,106) (54,129)

profit before income taxation 628,294 536,737

Income tax 9,075 (121,088)

profit for the year 637,369 415,649

Business segment
Balance sheet

2010 2009

red 24
£

training
£

consolidated
£

red 24
£

training
£

consolidated
£

segment assets 1,797,764 268,822 2,066,586 1,102,882 156,841 1,259,723

unallocated corporate assets 229,414 132,294

Deferred tax assets 163,244 138,144

consolidated total assets 2,459,244 1,530,161

segment liabilities 835,669 256,474 1,092,143 438,048 130,179 568,227

unallocated corporate liabilities 84,792 134,812

Borrowings 29,738 298,344

consolidated total liabilities 1,206,673 1,001,383

REDT2488_AR10_BACK_AW01.indd   22 14/06/2010   17:42



notes to tHe fInAncIAl stAteMents

red24 plc
AnnuAl RepoRt & Accounts foR tHe YeAR enDeD 31 MARcH 2010

23

31 March 2010

3 Revenue and segment analysis continued
Business segment      
Other segment items 

2010 2009

 
red 24

£
training

£
consolidated

£
red 24

£
training

£
consolidated

£

capital expenditure

– intangible assets 2,131 – 2,131 18,749 – 18,749

– property, plant & equipment 34,265 2,941 37,206 12,601 535 13,136

Depreciation 33,300 2,454 35,754 28,200 2,811 31,011

Amortisation of intangibles 6,897 1,670 8,567 1,039 1,670 2,709

no single customer accounts for more than 10% of the revenue of the training segment. for the red 24 segment the two key 
distributors each account for more than 10% of group revenue; one accounts for 31.0% (2009: 38.4%) and the other 
accounts for 21.1% (2009: 14.7%). 

the group’s operations are located in the united Kingdom and in the Republic of south Africa. the following table provides 
an analysis of the group’s sales by location of customer, irrespective of the origin of the services, and a geographical analysis 
of the location of segment assets and additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 

Geographic segment      

Revenue
2010

£

Revenue
2009

£

segment 
assets

2010
£

segment 
assets

2009
£

capital
expenditure

2010
£

capital
expenditure

2009
£

united Kingdom 2,189,551 2,365,116 1,630,512 794,171 29,120 23,506

south Africa 33,047 31,362 599,318 603,696 10,217 8,379

Rest of europe 111,954 223,657 – – – –

united states of America 1,666,297 524,123

Rest of the World 286,895 176,467 – – – –

4,287,744 3,320,725 2,229,830 1,397,867 39,337 31,885

shared corporate assets – – 229,414 132,294 – –

4,287,744 3,320,725 2,459,244 1,530,161 39,337 31,885
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4 Operating profit 
the operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

2010
£

2009
£

Amortisation of intangible assets 8,567 2,709

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 35,754 31,011

operating lease rentals – land and buildings 116,829 85,792

 – equipment 1,369 1,103

loss/(gain) on foreign exchange transactions 21,430 (97,374)

share based payments 4,950 (1,670)

fees payable to the auditor for the audit of the company and group annual accounts 14,000 12,500

fees payable to auditor and their associates for other services:

Audit of the company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 15,500 15,500

other services pursuant to legislation 6,103 2,600

fees payable to auditor’s associate for the audit of the south African subsidiary 11,654 5,026

Auditor’s remuneration includes £31,400 (2009: £28,600) in respect of the group auditor, of which £29,500 (2009: £28,000) 
relates to audit services and £1,900 (2009: £2,600) to non audit services. other services comprise £700 (2009: £nil) for the 
advice in relation to incorporation of a united states subsidiary and £1,200 (2009: £600) relating to a review of the group’s 
half year report. 

5 Investment income
2010

£
2009

£

Bank and other interest receivable 3,622 7,141

6 Finance costs 
2010

£
2009

£

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts 1,420 3,789

loan note interest 22,500 45,000

Interest element of finance leases 3,864 5,340

other interest payable 4,322 –

32,106 54,129

7 Employees
2010

number
2009

number

(a)     Average monthly number of employees of the group, including executive directors, 
during the year:

consultants and sales 10 10

office and management 55 60

65 70
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7 Employees continued
2010

£
2009

£

(b)     staff costs including executive directors:

Wages and salaries 1,507,462 1,192,744

social security costs 106,382 89,278

share based payments 4,950 (1,670)

1,618,794 1,280,352

    
employee costs are included in administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.

8 Share based payments
the company has issued share options to certain directors and employees. the options cannot be exercised in the first 
three years following their grant and, under normal circumstances, the options lapse if an employee leaves the group.

on 16 April 2004, the company granted 1,595,000 options to subscribe for ordinary shares of 1p each under the company’s 
new general share option scheme, exercisable at 18.75p per share between 16 April 2006 and 15 April 2014 and are not 
subject to any performance conditions. 

on 2 March 2010, the company granted 500,000 options to subscribe for ordinary shares of 1p each under the company’s 
executive share option scheme, exercisable at 8p per share between 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2016 and are not subject 
to any performance conditions.

the following movements in the numbers of share options outstanding took place in the year. 

2004
series

2010
series total

At 1 April 2009 522,500 – 522,500

Granted during the year – 500,000 500,000

At 31 March 2010 522,500 500,000 1,022,500

the 2004 series has no profit trigger. At 31 March 2010 522,500 outstanding options are exercisable (2009: 522,500) at a 
weighted average exercise price of 18.75p. 

the following movement took place in the previous year:

2004
series total

At 1 April 2008 547,500 547,500

lapsed during the year (25,000) (25,000)

At 31 March 2009 522,500 522,500

      
those share options that lapsed did so as the grantees were no longer in the group’s employ.

the total charge recognised in administration expenses in the income statement from share based transactions, all equity-
settled, amounted to £4,950 (2008: credit of £1,670). this reflects the charge relating to options granted in the year. In 2009 
the credit relates to options of the 2004 series that have lapsed due to the departure of the holder. 
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8 Share based payments continued
fair value is determined by use of the Black scholes model using the following assumptions:

2010
series

2004
series

Grant date 2 March 2010 16 April 2004

exercise price 8p 18.75p

shares issued under option 500,000 1,320,000

Weighted average share price 8p 15p

Vesting period 3 years 2 years

expected volatility 51% 83%

contractual expiry date 31 March 2016 15 April 2014

option life taken as expected life 3 years 5 years

Risk free rate 3.5% 4.5%

expected dividend yield 2.0% 0%

probability of option vesting 90% 10%

fair value per option 3p 10p

 
the expected volatility of all equity compensation benefits is based on the expected volatility of the underlying share price 
over the term of the option. this has been calculated using historical share price data.

9 Directors’ emoluments
the total emoluments of the directors, who are considered to be the key management personnel, were as follows:

2010
£

2009
£

salaries, fees and bonuses 221,300 195,300

social security costs 22,218 19,959

share based payments 4,950 –

248,468 215,259

Bonus payments were made to the executive directors during the year, and for the previous year, based on a percentage  
of annual salary, as shown in the remuneration report. the directors received no benefits in kind during the year or during 
the previous year, nor were any pension contributions made on behalf of any director in either year. Details of the highest 
paid director are shown in the remuneration report and details of the directors’ interests in share options are given in the 
directors’ report.
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10 Taxation  
(a) Analysis of income tax (credit)/charge for the year

2010
£

2009
£

current tax

 united Kingdom 7,907 9,080

 south Africa 3,212 –

Deferred tax:

 united Kingdom (56,390) (22,460)

 south Africa 36,196 134,468

(9,075) 121,088

    
(b) Factors affecting the income tax (credit)/charge for the year
the charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows: 

2010
£

2009
£

profit before taxation 628,294 536,737 

profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax  
in the uK of 28% (2009: 28%) 175,922 150,284

effects of:

expenses not deductible for tax purposes 13,842 14,353

temporary differences (404) 2,000

Difference between interest paid and payable (4,200) (2,100)

tax losses not utilised in the year 21,452 92,585

utilisation of tax losses brought forward (206,612) (257,124)

change in recognised value of tax losses (9,075) 121,088

Income tax (credit)/charge (9,075) 121,088

(c) Factors affecting tax charge for future years
the company has capital losses for tax purposes at 31 March 2010 of £605,994 (2009: £605,994) available to carry forward 
against future capital gains and excess management expenses of £1,382,325 (2009: £1,320,797), subject to acceptance by 
H M Revenue & customs. the trading subsidiaries have losses for corporation tax purposes at 31 March 2010 available to 
carry forward against profits from the same trade of £1,631,646 (2009: £2,293,065) subject to acceptance by H M Revenue 
& customs and the south African tax authorities.
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10 Taxation continued
(c) Factors affecting tax charge for future years continued
the group and the company have deferred tax assets not included in the financial statements as recovery is not sufficiently 
certain, calculated at a corporation tax rate of 28% (2009: 28%), as follows:    

Group company

2010
£

2009
£

2010
£

2009
£

tax losses carried forward:

 capital losses 169,678 169,678 169,678 169,678

 Management expenses 387,051 369,823 387,051 369,823

 trading losses 301,454 503,914 – –

non-current asset temporary differences 4,766 7,181 – –

short term temporary differences – (2,100) – (2,100)

862,949 1,048,496 556,729 537,401

the deferred tax asset in respect of trading losses is recoverable against future profits from the same trade. 

 (d) Tax effects of other comprehensive income

2010 2009

Before tax
£

tax
£

After tax
£

Before tax
£

tax
£

After tax
£

exchange differences on 
translation of foreign operations 5,536 – 5,536 (34,562) – (34,562)

            

11 Profit per share
2010 2009

Attributable profit (£) 637,369 415,649

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the purposes 
of basic profit per share 44,485,409 43,779,687

effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares on exercise of warrants 947,535 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the purposes 
of diluted profit per share 45,432,944 43,779,687

Basic profit per share (pence) 1.43p 0.95p

Diluted profit per share (pence) 1.40p 0.95p

REDT2488_AR10_BACK_AW01.indd   28 14/06/2010   17:42



notes to tHe fInAncIAl stAteMents

red24 plc
AnnuAl RepoRt & Accounts foR tHe YeAR enDeD 31 MARcH 2010

29

31 March 2010

12 Intangible assets   
Group
 

Intellectual
property

£
Goodwill

£
total

£

Cost

At 1 April 2008 9,842 256,020 265,862

foreign currency adjustment 1,021 – 1,021

Additions 18,749 – 18,749

At 1 April 2009 29,612 256,020 285,632

foreign currency adjustment 1,810 – 1,810

Additions 2,131 – 2,131

At 31 March 2010 33,553 256,020 289,573

   

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 April 2008 3,301 – 3,301

foreign currency adjustment 697 – 697

Amortisation charge for the year 2,709 – 2,709

At 1 April 2009 6,707 – 6,707

foreign currency adjustment 1,109 – 1,109

Amortisation charge for the year 8,567 – 8,567

At 31 March 2010 16,383 – 16,383

   

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2010 17,170 256,020 273,190

At 31 March 2009 22,905 256,020 278,925

At 1 April 2008 6,541 256,020 262,561
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12 Intangible assets continued
Company

Intellectual
property

£
total

£

Cost

At 1 April 2008 – –

Additions 16,379 16,379

At 1 April 2009 16,379 16,379

At 31 March 2009 16,379 16,379

  

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 April 2009 – –

Amortisation charge for the year 5,469 5,469

At 31 March 2010 5,469 5,469

  

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2010 10,910 10,910

At 31 March 2009 16,379 16,379

At 1 April 2008 – –

    
the goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating segments that are 
expected to benefit from that business combination. At the date of transition to IfRs the carrying amount of goodwill had 
been allocated as red24 segment £136,020 and training segment £120,000. 

the group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. 
charges for amortisation and impairment of goodwill and intellectual property are included within administrative expenses.

the recoverable amounts of the cash generating units are determined from value in use calculations. the group prepares 
cash flow forecasts from the most recent financial budgets approved by management. the cash flows are then discounted 
at an appropriate interest rate to determine value in use. 

the forecast cash flows for the next two years, taking forecast revenues, based upon historical experience, and anticipated 
expenditure are then discounted at a rate of ten percent per annum to arrive at a recoverable amount for each cash 
generating unit. this shows that each cash generating unit has a recoverable amount in excess of the carrying value of 
goodwill and that no charge for impairment in necessary.
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13 Investment in group companies 
company

£

Investments in subsidiary companies:

cost

At 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009 1,646,029

Additions 752

At 31 March 2010 1,646,781

Impairment provisions

At 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009 1,518,904

Reversal of impairment charge (20,000)

At 31 March 2010 1,498,904

net book amount

At 31 March 2010 147,877

At 31 March 2009 127,125

 At 1 April 2008 127,125

  
the subsidiary companies at 31 March 2010 and their activities during the year were:

Held directly:
percentage of ordinary 

share capital held Activity

red24 operations limited 100% security risk management services

red24 cRM (pty) limited 100% security risk management services

red24 sales limited 100% security risk management services

red24 Inc 100% Dormant

ARc training International limited 100% training in security risk management

 
All of the subsidiary companies are incorporated in Great Britain and registered in england and Wales, with the exception of 
red24 cRM (pty) limited, which is incorporated and registered in south Africa and red24 Inc which is incorporated in the 
united states of America. the financial statements of all the above subsidiaries are included in these financial statements

the company’s investment in red24 cRM (pty) limited includes R1,300,000 5% convertible redeemable cumulative 
preference shares of R1 each. the company has waived its right to the dividend due on these shares up to 31 March 2010. 
for the year to 31 March 2010 this would have amounted to R65,000 (£5,242).

the company’s loan to red24 cRM (pty) limited is subordinated in favour of that company’s creditors until such time as the 
net assets of that subsidiary exceed its net liabilities. 

each year the company reviews the carrying value of the investment in each subsidiary against the amount estimated to be 
recoverable from that subsidiary, if recovery is not reasonably foreseeable then the investment is considered impaired and a 
charge made. 
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14 Property, plant & equipment
Group

leasehold
premises

£

Motor
vehicles

£

fixtures, fittings
and equipment

£
total

£

Cost

At 1 April 2008 – 3,670 174,557 178,227

foreign currency adjustment – 776 22,899 23,675

Additions – – 13,136 13,136

At 1 April 2009 – 4,446 210,592 215,038

foreign currency adjustment – 978 30,194 31,172

Additions 12,633 – 24,573 37,206

Disposals – – (39,197) (39,197)

At 31 March 2010 12,633 5,424 226,162 244,219

    

Depreciation

At 1 April 2008 – 705 110,231 110,936

foreign currency adjustment – 149 11,847 11,996

charge for the year – 445 30,566 31,011

At 1 April 2009 – 1,299 152,644 153,943

foreign currency adjustment – 286 20,088 20,374

charge for the year 842 542 34,370 35,754

Disposals – – (39,066) (39,066)

At 31 March 2010 842 2,127 168,036 171,005

    

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2010 11,791 3,297 58,126 73,214

At 31 March 2009 – 3,147 57,948 61,095

At 1 April 2008 – 2,965 64,326 67,291

        
the depreciation has been charged to administrative expenses.

At 31 March 2010 the group had no capital commitments (2009: £nil).

At 31 March 2010 the group held fixtures, fittings and equipment under finance leases, secured on those assets, as follows: 
 

2010
£

2009
£

cost 47,870 39,239

Accumulated depreciation (42,285) (26,813)

net book amount 5,585 12,426

Depreciation charged in the year 8,542 7,134
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15 Deferred tax assets
the deferred tax assets, realisable after more than one year, are included at current tax rates and represent the following:

total
£

Group
tax losses

carried
forward

£

temporary
differences

£

At 1 April 2008 230,445 229,029 1,416

foreign currency adjustment 19,707 18,536 1,171

Income statement charge/(credit) (112,008) (120,714) 8,706

At 1 April 2009 138,144 126,851 11,293

foreign currency adjustment 4,905 2,730 2,175

Income statement credit/(charge) 20,195 22,769 (2,574)

At 31 March 2010 163,244 152,350 10,894

the deferred tax assets recognised in respect of tax losses carried forward represent £152,350 (2009: £95,960) relating to uK 
subsidiary companies and £nil (2009: £30,891) relating to the south African subsidiary. tax losses, which may be carried 
forward indefinitely, are recoverable against future profits from the same trade and in the country in which they were incurred.

16 Trade and other receivables
 Group company

2010
£

2009
£

2010
£

2009
£

Amounts falling due within one year: 2010

trade receivables (i) 890,882 378,841 – –

provisions for impairment (ii) (68,706) (23,528) – –

822,176 355,313 – –

Due from subsidiary undertakings (iii) – – 128,000 138,686

other receivables 51,630 34,637 16,818 8,832

prepayments and accrued income 72,107 25,087 29,140 24,915

945,913 415,037 173,958 172,433

    

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

Due from subsidiary undertakings (iii) – – 1,160,017 1,423,716

provisions for impairment (ii) – – (579,795) (806,312)

    

net amount due from subsidiary undertakings (iii) – – 580,222 617,404

other receivables 36,060 10,780 36,060 10,780

36,060 10,780 616,282 628,184
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16 Trade and other receivables continued
(i)   the average credit period on sales of services is 76 days (2009: 42 days). trade receivables over 120 days at the balance 

sheet date, that have not been received within 60 days of the balance sheet date are provided for in full. other trade 
receivables over 60 days at the balance sheet date are provided for on estimated irrecoverable amounts. the carrying 
value of trade and other receivables is considered to be the same as their fair value.

  Included in trade receivables are receivables with a carrying amount of £246,674 (2009: £42,162) that are designated 
in foreign currencies, of which £222,739 (2009: £41,406) are designated in us dollars and £23,935 (2009: £756) in  
other currencies. 

  Included in the group’s trade receivables are debtors with a carrying amount of £153,511 (2009: £89,406) which are 
overdue at the balance sheet date for which the group has not provided as there has not been a significant change in 
credit quality and the group believes that these amounts are still recoverable. the group does not hold any collateral over 
these balances. the ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

2010
£

2009
£

60-90 days 65,108 38,851

90-120 days 47,667 5,713

120+ days 40,736 44,842

153,511 89,406

the red24 product is sold through key distributors, which does lead to a significant concentration of credit risk. these 
distributors are major global concerns and this limits the risk. At the balance sheet date £286,904 (2009: £158,202) was due 
to the group from key distributors and is included within trade and other receivables.

(ii) Movement in the allowances against trade and other receivables:

Group
trade

receivables

company
Due from
subsidiary

undertakings

2010
£

2009
£

2010
£

2009
£

Balance at 1 April 23,528 4,643 806,312 1,316,384 

Increase in provision 45,178 18,885 – –

Release of provision to income statement – – (226,517) (510,072)

Balance at 31 March 68,706 23,528 579,795 806,312

(iii)   the amounts due from subsidiary companies are unsecured and interest to 31 March 2010 has been waived. there are 
no fixed terms for repayment.

17 Cash and cash equivalents
 Group company

2010
£

2009
£

2010
£

2009
£

cash and cash equivalents 967,623 626,180 131,017 71,388

cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held in short-term bank deposits with a maturity of three months or less. the 
carrying amount of these assets approximated to their fair value. Repatriation of funds to the uK is subject to south African 
exchange control legislation, at 31 March 2010 £379,879 (2009: £314,556) was held with banks in south Africa.
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18 Trade and other payables due within one year
 Group company

2010
£

2009
£

2010
£

2009
£

trade payables 245,650 153,113 29,500 66,511

other taxation and social security 57,172 60,928 15,129 13,765

Accruals and deferred income 874,113 488,998 40,163 54,536

1,176,935 703,039 84,792 134,812

the average credit period taken on purchases of services is 44 days (2009: 38 days). the carrying value of trade and other 
payables is considered to be the same as their fair value.

Included in group trade payables are payables with a carrying amount of £92,251 (2009: £7,850) that are designated in 
foreign currencies, of which £74,536 (2009: £nil) are designated in us dollars and £17,715 (2009: £7,850) in other currencies. 

19 Borrowings
Due within one year

 Group company

2010
£

2009
£

2010
£

2009
£

Bank loan (i) 10,008 10,008 – –

loan notes (ii) – 250,000 – 250,000

obligations under finance leases (iii) 8,968 10,215 – –

18,976 270,223 – 250,000

        
Due after more than one year

 Group company

2010
£

2009
£

2010
£

2009
£

Bank loan (i) 10,762 20,770 – –

obligations under finance leases (iii) – 7,351 – –

10,762 28,121 – –

(i)  secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets and undertaking of the company and those of a subsidiary 
company, red24 sales limited. the loan is being repaid at the rate of £834 per calendar month. the interest charged on 
the loan is 2.75% per annum over the base rate of HsBc Bank plc. 

(ii)  unsecured, repayable on or before 30 september 2010, and bearing interest at 12%. the loan notes were repaid early, 
£125,000 on 30 september 2009 and £125,000 on 31 March 2010.

(iii) secured on the related property, plant and equipment as shown in note 14.

the fair value of group borrowings is considered to be the same as the carrying value.
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19 Borrowings continued
the group entered into a finance lease in relation to its telephone system in south Africa, the lease expires in late 2010; 
minimum future payments under the finance leases are as follows:

Group
 Minimum future

payments
present value of

payments

2010
£

2009
£

2010
£

2009
£

payable within one year 9,796 13,764 8,968 10,215

payable between one and two years – 8,030 – 7,351

9,796 21,794 8,968 17,566

future finance charges (828) (4,228) – –

present value of minimum lease payments 8,968 17,566 8,968 17,566

20 Share capital
ordinary
number

Deferred
number

total
number

Authorised

number of shares

ordinary shares of 1p each

Deferred shares of 0.9p each

At 1 April 2008 50,000,000 500,000,000 550,000,000

shares authorised 25,000,000 – 25,000,000

shares cancelled (see below) – (500,000,000) (500,000,000)

At 31 March 2009 & 2010 75,000,000 – 75,000,000

       
ordinary

£
Deferred

£
total

£

Authorised

ordinary shares of 1p each

Deferred shares of 0.9p each

At 1 April 2008 500,000 4,500,000 5,000,000

shares authorised 250,000 – 250,000

shares cancelled (see below) – (4,500,000) (4,500,000)

At 31 March 2009 & 2010 750,000 – 750,000
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20 Share capital continued 
ordinary
number

Deferred
number

total
number

Issued and fully paid

number of shares

At 1 April 2008 43,371,083 324,710,836 368,081,919

Issued during the year 1,070,000 – 1,070,000

shares cancelled (see below) – (324,710,836) (324,710,836)

At 31 March 2009 44,441,083 – 44,441,083

Issued during the year 2,800,000 – 2,800,000

At 31 March 2010 47,241,083 – 47,241,083

ordinary
£

Deferred
£

total
£

Issued and fully paid

par value of shares

At 1 April 2008 433,711 2,922,397 3,356,108

Issued during the year 10,700 – 10,700

share cancelled (see below) – (2,922,397) (2,922,397)

At 31 March 2009 444,411 – 444,411

Issued during the year 28,000 – 28,000

At 31 March 2010 472,411 – 472,411

In 2005 and 2006 the company issued warrants to subscribe to ordinary shares of 1p each, movements on the numbers of 
warrants outstanding are shown in the table below:

number of
warrants

At 1 April 2008 4,750,000

lapsed during the year (1,250,000)

At 1 April 2009 3,500,000

exercised during the year at 5p per share (1,350,000)

exercised during the year at 4p per share (1,000,000)

At 31 March 2010 1,150,000

 
All the outstanding warrants are exercisable at a price of 5p per share with a final exercise date of 30 september 2010.

on 6 December 2007 the authorised share capital of 500,000,000 ordinary shares of 1p each was subdivided into 
50,000,000 new ordinary shares of 1p each and 500,000,000 deferred shares of 0.9p each and the 324,710,836 ordinary 
shares of 1p each then in issue were subdivided into 32,471,083 ordinary shares of 1p each and 324,710,836 deferred 
shares of 0.9p each. 

the deferred shares had no voting or other rights and were effectively valueless. cancellation of the deferred shares was 
approved by shareholders on 5 August 2008 and this was approved by the court of sessions on 31 March 2009.

on 24 January 2008 the company issued warrants to subscribe to 1,000,000 ordinary shares at 1p each at a price of 4p  
per share at any time up to 30 september 2010, these warrants were exercised in full on 31 March 2010 and none of these 
warrants remain outstanding at 31 March 2010. these warrants were issued to a distributor as part of a variation to the 
distribution agreement. 
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20 Share capital continued
on 5 August 2008 the shareholders approved an increase in the authorised share capital by the creation of an additional 
25,000,000 new ordinary shares of 1p each.

on 4 november 2008 1,000,000 ordinary shares were issued at a price of 2p each to management, 600,000 of which were 
issued under the share loan scheme. on 30 March 2009 a further 70,000 shares were issued to staff under the share loan 
scheme at a price of 3p each. the share loan scheme enables staff to acquire shares by way of an interest free loan 
repayable by 60 equal monthly instalments which are deducted from their salary and are repayable in full if the member of 
staff leaves.

on 31 March 2009 the court of sessions in edinburgh gave approval to the cancellation of deferred shares on the same 
terms as those approved by shareholders on 5 August 2008. 

on 2 March 2010 a further 450,000 ordinary shares were issued at a price of 7.8p per share to members of staff under the 
share loan scheme as described above.

on 31 March 2010, following the exercise of warrants as described above, 2,350,000 ordinary shares were issued, 
1,000,000 at 4p each and 1,350,000 at 5p each.

21 Share capital and reserves
Group

Retained
earnings

£

share
capital

£

share
premium

£

other
reserves

£

translation
reserve

£
total

£

1 April 2008 (4,109,670) 3,356,108 748,303 47,240 96,680 138,661

exchange differences on 
translation of overseas 
operations – – – – (34,562) (34,562)

profit for the year 415,649 – – – – 415,649

Issue of shares – 10,700 11,400 – – 22,100

cancellation of shares 3,670,700 (2,922,397) (748,303) – – –

costs of share cancellation – – (11,400) – – (11,400)

share based payments – – – (1,670) – (1,670)

1 April 2009 (23,321) 444,411 – 45,570 62,118 528,778

exchange differences on 
translation of overseas 
operations – – – – 5,536 5,536

profit for the year 637,369 – – – – 637,369

Issue of shares – 28,000 114,600 – – 142,600

share based payments – – – 4,950 – 4,950

transfer on exercise of 
warrants 6,140 – – (6,140) – –

payment of dividend (66,662) – – – – (66,662)

31 March 2010 553,526 472,411 114,600 44,380 67,654 1,252,571
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21 Share capital and reserves continued
company

Retained
earnings

£
share capital

£

share
premium

£

other
reserves

£
total

£

1 April 2008 (3,891,748) 3,356,108 748,303 47,240 259,903

profit for the year 361,764 – – – 361,764

Issue of shares – 10,700 11,400 – 22,100

cancellation of shares 3,670,700 (2,922,397) (748,303) – –

costs of share cancellation – – (11,400) – (11,400)

share based payments – – – (1,670) (1,670)

1 April 2009 140,716 444,411 – 45,570 630,697

profit for the year 283,667 – – – 283,667

Issue of shares – 28,000 114,600 – 142,600

share based payments – – – 4,950 4,950

transfer on exercise of warrants 6,140 – – (6,140) –

payment of dividend (66,662) – – – (66,662)

31 March 2010 363,861 472,411 114,600 44,380 995,252

the share premium reserve records the premium above the par value of the shares paid on the issue of shares by the 
company, less the costs of the issue of shares.

the translation reserve arises from currency differences arising on the retranslation of foreign currency balances as 
explained in accounting policy 1(j).

Retained earnings reflect changes in equity not shown elsewhere and are the group and company’s distributable reserves.

other reserves include both the cumulative amount of the fair value of warrants and the cumulative amount charged to the 
income statement in respect of the company’s share options as set out in note 8. the following table provides further detail 
on these reserves: 

Other reserves
 Group company

fair value 
of warrants

£

share option
reserve

£
total

£

fair value 
of warrants

£

share option
reserve

£
total

£

1 April 2008 8,100 39,140 47,240 8,100 39,140 47,240

share based payments – (1,670) (1,670) – (1,670) (1,670)

1 April 2009 8,100 37,470 45,570 8,100 37,470 45,570

share based payments – 4,950 4,950 – 4,950 4,950

transfer on exercise of 
warrants (6,140) – (6,140) (6,140) – (6,140)

31 March 2010 1,960 42,420 44,380 1,960 42,420 44,380
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22 Notes to the cash flow statement
(a) Net cash inflow from operating activities

Group company

2010
£

2009
£

2010
£

2009
£

Operating activities

profit before income taxation 628,294 536,737 283,667 361,764

Adjustments for:

Investment income (3,622) (7,141) (100,064) (50,457)

finance costs 32,106 54,129 22,500 45,048

Depreciation and amortisation 44,321 33,720 5,469 –

provisions – – (20,000) –

share based payments 4,950 (1,670) 4,950 (1,670)

loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 131 – – –

exchange gains and losses 5,536 (35,842) – (8,960)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (556,156) 178,529 10,377 (75,756)

Increase/(decrease) in payables 393,027 (30,387) (35,020) (69,043)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 548,587 728,075 171,879 200,926

(b) Analysis of changes in net cash (group)
1 April
2009

£

cash
movements

£

other
movements

£

31 March
2010

£

cash and cash equivalents 626,180 246,668 94,775 967,623

Debt due within one year (260,008) 260,008 (10,008) (10,008)

Debt due after more than one year (20,770) – 10,008 (10,762)

345,402 506,676 94,775 946,853

finance leases due within one year (10,215) 11,118 (9,871) (8,968)

finance leases after more than one year (7,351) – 7,351 –

net cash 327,836 517,794 92,255 937,885

Included in other movements on cash and cash equivalents is a foreign exchange movement of £68,345 (2009: £29,807).

(c) Reconciliation of net cash flow movement to movement in net cash (group)
2010

£
2009

£

Increase in cash 273,098 513,993

Decrease in finance leases 8,598 3,401

Decrease in bank loan 10,008 10,008

Decrease in loan notes 250,000 125,000

translation difference 68,345 29,807

Increase in net cash 610,049 682,209

Opening net cash/(debt) 327,836 (354,373)

Closing net cash 937,885 327,836
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23 Operating lease commitments
At 31 March 2010 the group was committed to making minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as 
follows:

Group

office equipment land and buildings

2010
£

2009
£

2010
£

2009
£

Within one year 752 752 68,945 61,811

Between one and five years – 752 34,918 56,379

752 1,504 103,863 118,190

operating leases represent rental payments payable by the group for certain of its office properties and items of office 
equipment. the average contractual life of these leases is two years and only one of the lease obligations extends beyond 
30 April 2011, in this case the lease extends to March 2016 but there is a break clause in november 2012. In the ordinary 
course of business these leases are renewable. Rental payments under these leases are fixed until the end of the term, with 
the exception of the south African premises which are subject to an annual increase of 9% on 1 May in each year.

24 Related party transactions 
since 1 January 2005, the company has paid sidebell limited amounts for the use of sidebell’s offices and the use of 
accountancy services. s A Richards, a director of the company, has an interest in the share capital of sidebell limited. In the 
year to 31 March 2010, these amounts were £2,000 per month, totalling £24,000 (2009: £24,000). the balance due to 
sidebell limited at 31 March 2010 was £nil (2009: £nil). 

At 31 March 2008 sidebell limited, s A Richards and J e A Mocatta held £300,000, £5,000 and £5,000 respectively of the 
loan notes 2009, on 31 March 2009 £110,000 was repaid to sidebell limited as were the loan notes due to s A Richards 
and J e A Mocatta. the remaining £190,000 loan notes due to sidebell limted were extended to 30 september 2010, but all 
have been redeemed early by the company before 31 March 2010. At 31 March 2010 all the loan notes had been redeemed. 
Interest due, of £22,800, on the loan notes was paid on 30 september 2009 and interest due of £5,700 was paid on  
31 March 2010 on the loan notes that were repaid on that date. these loan notes carry warrants to subscribe to ordinary 
shares, full details of these and other warrants held by related parties are set out in the directors’ report.

the directors’ report sets out the interests of the directors in the share capital of the company, in addition all the directors 
hold share options under the group’s share option scheme and these are also disclosed in that report. Key management 
remuneration is as follows:

2010
£

2009
£

salaries 221,300 195,300

social security costs 22,218 19,959

share-based payments 4,950 (1,670)

248,468 213,589

Refer to the remuneration report, and note 9, for further details of the remuneration of directors employed by the company. 

During the year the company entered into the following transactions with its subsidiaries:

2010
£

2009
£

Management charges received 300,000 144,000

Dividends received 100,000 50,000

licence fee received 120,000 120,000

Amounts owed by subsidiaries at year end 1,288,017 1,562,402
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24 Related party transactions continued
the management charges reflect a charge to partly recover the time of the group directors and the cost of central services 
such as administrative offices, the conduct of the audit and the maintenance of professional insurances.

As shown in note 16, impairment provisions totalling £579,795 (2009: £806,312) have been made against the amounts 
shown as due from subsidiaries in the table above.

25 Financial instruments and risk summary
(a) Financial risk policies and objectives
the group’s financial instruments comprise, for the purposes of IfRs 7, cash and cash equivalents, loans and finance 
leases. Details of the significant accounting policies in relation to these financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 1 
to the financial statements. 

All financial assets are categorised as loans and receivables as follows:

Group company

2010
£

2009
£

2010
£

2009
£

Non-current financial assets:

trade and other receivables 36,060 10,780 616,282 628,184

36,060 10,780 616,282 628,184

Current financial assets:

trade and other receivables 873,806 389,950 173,958 172,433

cash and cash equivalents 967,623 626,180 131,017 71,388

1,841,429 1,016,130 304,975 243,821

Total 1,877,489 1,026,910 921,257 872,005

All financial liabilities are categorised as other financial liabilities as follows:

Group company

2010
£

2009
£

2010
£

2009
£

Current financial liabilities:

trade and other payables 1,176,935 703,039 84,792 134,812

Bank loan 10,008 10,008 – –

loan notes – 250,000 – 250,000

obligations under finance leases 8,968 10,215 – –

1,195,911 973,262 84,792 384,812

    

Non-current financial liabilities:

Bank loan 10,762 20,770 – –

obligations under finance leases – 7,351 – –

10,762 28,121 – –

Total 1,206,673 1,001,383 84,792 384,812
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25 Financial instruments and risk summary continued
(a) Financial risk policies and objectives continued
the Board’s principal objective in managing its financial assets and liabilities is to ensure that the operating units have 
sufficient working capital for their day-to-day needs. surplus cash is maintained on call deposits with the clearing bankers to 
the operating units, as the group is not yet sufficiently cash generative to warrant a separate treasury function or take 
advantage of greater returns that may be available from other sources or maturities. the group does derive income in 
overseas currencies, principally the us dollar, and does incur expenses in overseas currencies, principally the costs of its 
south African operation which is Rand based. no forward contracts have been entered into to hedge these exposures as 
these would give the group’s bankers additional credit exposure and the Board consider that such exposure as is available 
to them is better deployed elsewhere in the group’s operations. the Board would expect this policy to change as the group 
develops.

(b) Capital risk management
the directors consider the company’s capital comprises its share capital and reserves and any loan notes in issue. 
Whenever possible the group has financed its operations from equity share issues, as the Board considers this helps to 
ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue in business as going concerns. In the past there have been 
occasions when capital has been required and the market price of the group’s shares has been below their par value, and in 
those circumstances the group has raised convertible debt finance. the market price of the group’s shares is regularly 
reviewed by the Board and if it persists at below par value for a prolonged period the Board will convene a meeting of 
shareholders to consider a reduction in the par value of the shares in order to ensure that equity markets remain open to the 
group as a source of capital.

(c) Foreign currency risk and sensitivity
the group has an overseas subsidiary whose functional currency is Rand and in addition undertakes transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies, principally us dollars, hence exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. the carrying 
amount of the group’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the reporting date is as follows: 

Assets liabilities

2010
£

2009
£

2010
£

2009
£

Rand 65,980 122,931 15,503 17,566

Dollar 604,711 133,598 74,536 –

euros 13,248 – 2,212 –

683,939 256,529 92,251 17,566

the company does not have any exposure to foreign currencies as all its transactions are in sterling. the group’s exposure 
to the Rand is such that were the Rand to appreciate by 10% against sterling the cost of its operations in south Africa  
would rise by £107,814 (2009: £82,685), this would be mitigated by a rise in the value in the groups’ Rand assets of £15,134 
(2009: £26,030). the groups’ exposure to the us dollar is such that were the dollar to depreciate by 10% against sterling 
profit would be reduced by £117,054 (2009: £41,888). the Board are aware that these are significant risks and are  
intending to negotiate forward exchange facilities with their bankers when the group’s credit position is sufficiently strong  
to warrant them.

(d) Market risk
the group’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (see section (c)) and 
interest rates (see section (f)). As explained above, the group has, for the present, accepted exposure to these risks.

(e) Liquidity risk 
ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which regularly reviews the short, 
medium and long term funding and liquidity management requirements. the board consider that equity remains the most 
appropriate source of funds for the business at its present stage of development and endeavours to maintain access to 
equity capital markets to fund medium and long term liquidity requirements. financial assets are maintained on short term 
deposit to assist with the management of day-to-day working capital requirements.
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25 Financial instruments and risk summary continued
(f) Interest rate risk and sensitivity
the group has financial assets of £1,877,489 at 31 March 2010 (2009: £1,026,910) comprising cash deposits and trade and 
other receivables. trade and other receivables have been excluded from the following tables as they are non-interest bearing.

the interest rate profile of the group’s financial assets, excluding trade and other receivables was:

Group

floating rate
deposits

2010
£

Average rate
2010

£

floating rate
deposits

2009
£

Average rate
2009

£

currency

sterling 519,671 1% 369,651 1%

Rand 65,980 9% 122,931 9%

Dollar 381,972 0% 133,598 0%

967,623 626,180

  

Company

sterling 131,017 0% 71,388 0%

      
the group has financial liabilities of £345,543 (2009: £512,385). trade and other payables are excluded from the following 
tables as they are non-interest bearing.

the interest rate profile of the group’s financial liabilities, excluding trade and other payables, at 31 March 2010 was:

Group

floating rate
liabilities

£

fixed rate
liabilities

£

total financial
liabilities

£

Average rate
of floating rate

liabilities

currency

sterling loan notes – – – –

sterling bank loan 20,770 – 20,770 8.25%

Rand finance lease – 8,968 8,968 –

20,770 8,968 29,738 –

   

Company

sterling loan notes – – – –
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25 Financial instruments and risk summary continued
(f) Interest rate risk and sensitivity continued
the interest rate profile of the group’s financial liabilities, excluding trade and other payables, at 31 March 2009 was:

Group

floating rate
liabilities

£

fixed rate
liabilities

£

total financial
liabilities

£

Average rate
of floating rate

liabilities

currency

sterling loan notes – 250,000 250,000 –

sterling bank loan 30,778 – 30,778 8.25%

Rand finance lease – 17,566 17,566 –

30,778 267,566 298,344 –

   

Company

sterling loan notes – 250,000 250,000 –

the average interest rate of floating rate liabilities in the year and in the previous year is based on libor +2%.

the entire group’s trade and other payables falling due within one year (other than bank loans, loan notes and finance leases) 
are excluded from above because they are either short term payables or fall outside the definition of a financial liability. the 
group’s loan facilities at 31 March 2010 were fully drawn.

the sterling fixed rate liability is fixed at 12% and the Rand fixed rate liability is at 21.06% for five years from the inception of 
the lease.

the bulk of the group’s borrowings are at fixed rates and an increase or decrease of 1% in interest rates would have no 
material affect on the group’s income statement.

the following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for the group and company’s financial liabilities. the table is 
based on the earliest date on which the group can be required to pay. the table includes both principal cash flows and 
interest, or an estimate of interest for floating rate instruments and excludes trade and other payables as the contractual 
maturities are all due within one year of the balance sheet date.

Group

Average
interest

rate

Due within
one year

£

Due in one to
two years

£

Due in
two-five years

£
total

£

2010

finance lease liability 26% 8,968 – – 8,968

floating rate bank loan 8.25% 10,008 10,762 – 20,770

18,976 10,762 – 29,738

    

2009

finance lease liability 26% 13,764 8,030 – 21,794

floating rate bank loan 8.25% 12,134 11,309 11,245 34,688

sterling loan notes 12% 265,000 – – 265,000

290,898 19,339 11,245 321,482
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25 Financial instruments and risk summary continued
(f) Interest rate risk and sensitivity continued

Company

Average
interest

rate

Due within
one year

£

Due in one to
two years

£

Due in
two-five years

£
total

£

sterling loan notes 12% – – – –

    

2009

sterling loan notes 12% 265,000 – – 265,000

(g) Credit risk
credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
group. the group has a credit policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating this risk. the 
group’s exposure to credit risk is monitored on a monthly basis and remedial action taken where appropriate.

Despite the above policies there does remain a concentration of credit risk in that two customers, one a major bank and the 
other a major insurance company, constitute 30.7% (2009: 41.8%) of the groups trade and other receivables. these 
receivables are within their trading terms but nonetheless present an ongoing risk. the group is endeavouring to mitigate this 
risk by gaining new customers at a faster rate than business with these two counterparties develops. 

the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on its financial assets is £1,877,489 (2009: £1,026,910), for the company its 
maximum exposure, excluding amounts due from subsidiaries, is £213,035 (2009: £115,915). the group does not hold any 
collateral against these financial assets. 

(h) Fair value of financial instruments
there is no material difference between the fair value and carrying value of financial assets and liabilities.

26 Contingent liabilities
the company has a contingent liability in respect of the value added tax of certain subsidiary companies under a group 
registration and is therefore jointly and severally liable for all the other group companies debt in this respect. At 31 March 
2010 the maximum potential liability was £17,382 (2009: £19,689).

the company has an additional contingent liability in respect a guarantee given in relation to banking facilities granted to a 
subsidiary company. At 31 March 2010 the extent of these facilities was £20,770 (2009: £30,778).

the company disposed of interests in a number of leasehold properties during the 15 months to 31 March 2002 but retains 
a contingent liability in respect of one of those properties should the assignees fail to fulfil their obligations under the lease. 
for this lease, which expires in 2013 and where the annual rent is £135,000, the assignee’s obligations are guaranteed by a 
major clearing bank. the directors consider it unlikely that there will be any cost to the company.
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notIce of AnnuAl GeneRAl MeetInG

notIce Is HeReBY given that the Annual General Meeting of red24 plc (‘the company’) will be held at 11.00 a.m. on 
tuesday 3 August 2010 at the offices of red24, the london underwriting centre, 3 Mincing lane, london, ec3R 7DD, for 
the following purposes:

Ordinary business
to consider as ordinary business and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions which will be proposed as ordinary 
resolutions:

1  to receive and consider the company’s accounts for the year ended 31 March 2010 and the Directors’ Report and 
Auditors’ Report thereon.

2 to re-appoint s A Richards as a director of the company.

3  to appoint Baker tilly uK Audit llp as auditors of the company to hold office until the conclusion of the next general 
meeting at which accounts are laid before the members and to authorise the directors to agree their remuneration.

 
Special business
to consider as special business and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution which will be proposed as an ordinary 
resolution:

4  tHAt: subject only to Resolution 5 below being passed as a special Resolution, the directors of the company be and 
they are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise all the powers of the company to allot relevant 
securities (as defined in section 551 of the companies Act 2006 (“the Act”)) up to a nominal amount equal to £125,000 
provided that this authority shall expire (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked by the company in general 
meeting) at the earlier of the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the company next following the passing of this 
Resolution and 15 months from the date of this Resolution and further provided that the company shall be entitled 
before such expiry to make an offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after 
such expiry and the directors of the company shall be entitled to allot relevant securities in pursuance of such offer or 
agreement as if the authority hereby conferred had not expired.

to consider as special business and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution which will be proposed as a special 
resolution:

5   tHAt subject to Resolution 4 above being duly passed as an ordinary Resolution, the directors of the company be and 
they are hereby empowered pursuant to section 571 of the Act to allot equity securities (as defined in section 560 of the 
Act) for cash pursuant to and for the duration of the authority conferred on them by Resolution 4 above as if section 561 
of the Act did not apply to any such allotment provided that this authority is limited to:

 5.1 the allotment of equity securities in connection with any rights issue in favour of ordinary shareholders on the 
register of members at such record date or dates as the directors of the company may determine where the equity 
securities to be issued are respectively attributable to the interests of all such holders of ordinary shares held by 
them at such record date or dates, provided that the directors of the company may make such arrangements or 
exclusions as they consider necessary or expedient in respect of fractional entitlements or legal or practical 
problems arising in any overseas territory or the requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange;

 5.2  the allotment of equity securities pursuant to the terms of any share scheme for employees adopted by the 
company; and

 5.3  the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraphs 5.1 or 5.2 above) of equity securities up to an aggregate 
nominal amount of £100,000.

and shall expire (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked by the company in general meeting) at the earlier of the 
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the company next following the passage of this Resolution and fifteen months 
from the date of this Resolution, save that the company may before the expiry of the authority conferred by this Resolution 
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make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors 
of the company may allot equity securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement notwithstanding that such authority  
has expired.

10 June 2010

By order of the Board Registered office
  Breckenridge House
  274 sauchiehall street
J E A Mocatta Glasgow G2 3eH
secretary Registered in scotland no. sco86069

Notes
1  In accordance with Regulation 41 of the uncertificated securities Regulations 2001, only those members entered on the company’s register of 

members not later than 4.00pm on 1 August 2010 or, if the meeting is adjourned, shareholders entered on the company’s register of members 
not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the adjourned meeting, shall be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting.

2  If you are a member of the company at the time set out in note 1 above, you are entitled to appoint one or more proxies to exercise all or any of 
your rights to attend, speak and vote at the meeting. 

  A form of proxy is enclosed which you are invited to complete and return. completion and return of the proxy form in accordance with the 
instructions thereon will not prevent you from attending and voting at the Meeting, instead of your proxy, if you wish to do so.

3  A proxy does not need to be a member of the company but must attend the Meeting to represent you. Details of how to appoint the chairman of 
the Meeting or another person as your proxy using the proxy form are set out in the notes to the proxy form. If you wish your proxy to speak on 
your behalf at the Meeting you will need to appoint your own choice of proxy (not the chairman) and give your instructions directly to them.

4  You may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached to different shares. You may not appoint 
more than one proxy to exercise rights attached to any one share. to appoint more than one proxy you may photocopy the proxy from. please 
indicate the proxy holder’s name and the number of shares in relation to which they are authorised to act as your proxy (which, in aggregate, 
should not exceed the number of shares held by you). please also indicate if the proxy instruction is one of multiple instructions being given. All 
forms must be signed and should be returned in the same envelope.

5 the notes to the proxy form explain how to direct your proxy how to vote on each resolution or withhold their vote.

 to appoint a proxy using the proxy form, the form must be:

 • completed and signed;

 •  sent or delivered to the company’s registrars, capita Registrars of the Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4tu; and

 • received not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the Meeting at which the proxy is to vote.

  In the case of a member which is a company, the proxy form must be executed under its common seal or signed on its behalf by an officer of the 
company or an attorney for the company.

  Any power of attorney or any other authority under which the proxy form is signed (or a duly certified copy of such power or authority) must be 
included with the proxy form.

6  In the case of joint holders, where more than one of the joint holders purports to appoint a proxy, only the appointment submitted by the most 
senior holder will be accepted. seniority is determined by the order in which the names of the joint holders appear in the company’s register of 
members in respect of the joint holding (the first-named being the most senior).

7  to change your proxy instructions simply submit a new proxy appointment using the methods set out above. note that the cut-off time for receipt 
of proxy appointments (see above) also apply in relation to amended instructions; any amended proxy appointment received after the relevant 
cut-off time will be disregarded.

  Where you have appointed a proxy using the hard-copy proxy form and would like to change the instructions using another hard-copy proxy 
form, please contact the company’s registrars, capita Registrars of the Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4tu for details.

  If you submit more than one valid proxy appointment, the appointment received last before the latest time for the receipt of proxies will  
take precedence.

8  In order to revoke a proxy instruction you will need to inform the company by sending a signed hard copy notice clearly stating your intention to 
revoke your proxy appointment to the company’s registrars, capita Registrars of the Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4tu 
for details. In the case of a member which is a company, the revocation notice must be executed under its common seal or signed on its behalf 
by an officer of the company or an attorney for the company. Any power of attorney or any other authority under which the revocation notice is 
signed (or a duly certified copy of such power or authority) must be included with the revocation notice.

  the revocation notice must be received by the company’s registrars, capita Registrars of the Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent 
BR3 4tu no later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the Meeting at which the proxy is to vote.

  Appointment of a proxy does not preclude you from attending the Meeting and voting in person. If you have appointed a proxy and attend the 
Meeting in person, your proxy appointment will automatically be terminated.

9   A vote withheld is not a vote in law and will not be counted in the calculation of the proportion of votes for or against a resolution. 

10  copies of the directors’ contracts of service are available for inspection at the company’s registered office during normal business hours on each 
business day from the date of this notice until the day of the Annual General Meeting and will be at the place of the Annual General Meeting for 
one hour before, and until the conclusion of, the Meeting.

REDT2488_AR10_BACK_AW01.indd   48 14/06/2010   17:42



red24 plc
AnnuAl RepoRt & Accounts foR tHe YeAR enDeD 31 MARcH 2010

DIRectoRs AnD ADVIseRs

DIRECTORS
s A Richards, MA Msc fcA (executive chairman)
J e A Mocatta, MA fcA  (non-executive Director)  
M s H Worsley-tonks MBe (executive Director)

SECRETARy
J e A Mocatta, MA fcA 

REGISTERED OFFICE  
Breckenridge House
274 sauchiehall street
Glasgow G2 3eH 
 
NOMINATED ADVISER AND BROKER
seymour pierce limited
20 old Bailey
london ec4M 7en 
 
REGISTRARS 
capita Registrars
northern House
Woodsome park
fenay Bridge
Huddersfield HD8 0GA 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 
Baker tilly uK Audit llp
chartered Accountants
2 Bloomsbury street
london Wc1B 3st  
 

ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE
the coach House
Bill Hill park
Wokingham
Berkshire RG40 5Qt

BANKERS
HsBc Bank plc
26-28 Broad street
Reading
Berkshire RG1 2Bu

SOLICITORS
farrer & co llp
66 lincoln’s Inn fields
london Wc2A 3lH

project Infundo (constantia primary school) supported by red24

www.theannualreportcompany.com
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red24 plc 
the coach House
Bill Hill park, twyford Road,
Wokingham, Berkshire,  
RG40 5Qt

Website:  www.red24plc.com
telephone: +44 (0)203 291 2424
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